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Selecting a business category to define Corn Belt Power Cooperative? 
“Utility” is the likely choice.
Looking for the cooperative in a phone book? It’s listed under “Electric Companies.”

Explaining what business Corn Belt Power is in? The response is usually “generating and transmitting electric power.”

But the mission of Corn Belt Power is much more than providing electricity. 

The co-op’s mission — however bold, ambitious or daunting it might seem — 
is to enhance the quality of life for members, employees and communities.

That means -
 •  When directors make decisions at the boardroom table, they 

think about people their choices affect, not dollars generated for 

a stockholder.

 •  When linemen repair transmission lines or electricians restore 

substations after an especially destructive storm, they take 

satisfaction in going the extra mile to get rural people’s 

homes and businesses back online.

 •  When energy advisors teach members how to save both electricity

and money, they feel rewarded when bills are lowered.

 •  When economic development personnel see their efforts 

result in more jobs at higher wages and increased revenues 

for communities, they have a sense of real achievement.

 •  When accountants review records and reports, they are keenly 

aware of how the accuracy of their work affects the quality of 

service for members.

 •  When power plant workers operate generating facilities, 

they focus on keeping everything in top condition to 

serve members with the highest reliability possible.

Regardless of job title or cooperative role, the people of Corn Belt Power embrace the cooperative’s mission. They share the  

common purpose of providing convenience, comfort and opportunity for the people across northern Iowa — the members  

who own the cooperative.
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ExEcutivE

report 2013

Kennet h  h .  KuyPer DonalD FelDman
exeCutive viCe PresiDent anD general manager

PresiDent, Corn Belt Power CooPerative
BoarD oF DireCtors

As Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s leadership navigated opportunities and challenges 

throughout 2013, we kept our mission at top of mind. When making every decision,  

we considered not only our ability to provide affordable and reliable electricity, but also 

our obligation to enhance the quality of life for members, employees and communities.
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We know that affordable electric rates  

are essential to maintain the quality of life 

in rural Iowa. 

At the same time, reliability is also necessary. 

Load growth must be served with increased 

generating supply. In January of 2013, Corn 

Belt Power implemented an approximate 

6.2 percent rate increase to its member 

cooperatives. This increase was necessary 

due to the cost of adding three new 

generating units along with two new wind 

generation projects. Basin Electric Power 

Cooperative added these new facilities to 

position itself to serve projected load growth. 

We are pleased to announce 
stable rates for 2014.

Another substantial component of Corn Belt 

Power’s expenses comes from financing costs. 

2013 was a banner year for developments 

that provide us more options for borrowing 

and, therefore, the potential for lower 

interest rates. Corn Belt Power’s new 

indenture of mortgage, granted from Rural 

Utilities Service, will allow us to explore 

alternative financing providers in addition 

to RUS. 

Corn Belt Power received a new financial 

rating in 2013. Two rating agencies each 

issued an “A” rating for the cooperative, 

an upgrade from Corn Belt Power’s 2012 

“A-” rating. Not only is this higher rating 

an affirmation of Corn Belt Power’s 

strengths, but it also immediately saved the 

cooperative money when a lender lowered 

interest rates based on the new rating. 

Among Corn Belt Power’s many identified 

strengths, the long-term all-requirements 

contracts it has with both Basin Electric and 

its member co-ops stand out as major drivers 

of its high rating.

In 2013, new carbon regulations from the 

Environmental Protection Agency continued 

to challenge the use of coal as an abundant, 

affordable source of energy. We’ve seen 

how the new regulations effectively 

eliminate any new coal generation. The 

carbon capture standards are unreachable 

with current technology. We await — with 

some trepidation — the new regulations yet 

to be released that will regulate operation 

of existing coal plants.

Our board made several decisions regarding 

Corn Belt Power’s generating sources in 

2013. New EPA regulations will require 

emissions control equipment that is not 

economically feasible for a small coal-fired 

plant. Therefore, we are in the process of 

re-establishing natural gas at our Wisdom 

Unit 1, Spencer. Re-establishing natural gas 

as the primary fuel and adding fuel oil as a 

backup will keep the plant a useful part of 

Basin Electric’s power supply.

Also in response to new EPA regulations, 

the Neal 4 plant near Sioux City, jointly 

owned by Corn Belt Power and several other 

utilities, received baghouse and scrubber 

upgrades in 2013. These additions will not 

only reduce emissions, but also extend the 

life of the plant for several decades.  

The installation of new low-pressure steam 

turbines, part of the same scheduled outage 

upgrade, increases plant efficiency. During 

the plant’s outage from September to 

December, Corn Belt Power was especially 

appreciative of our all-requirements 

contract with Basin Electric, which allowed 

us to maintain stable rates even while a 

major unit was out of service. 
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Our Watts Smart load management program not only saves 

participating co-ops hundreds of thousands of dollars in demand 

charges, but is also an important part of our plan to use generating 

resources efficiently. We look to continue to grow the program by 

controlling more water heaters and possibly controlling air conditioners.

The development of lower-cost solar energy panels, along with the 

potential to store solar power, headlined the year in the electric 

utility industry. Corn Belt Power and its members will continue to 

explore solar energy opportunities while insisting on maintaining 

affordability and reliability for all members. We expect to see 

continued developments in this area as we find the best way to fit 

the new technologies into our business plan. 

Reliability of power delivery has always been at the top of Corn 

Belt Power’s agenda and 2013 was no different. Throughout the 

year, crews actively reconductored many miles of transmission 

line, focusing on projects in the Hampton to Parkersburg and Dover 

to Storm Lake areas. Electricians upgraded substations with new 

technology that strengthens the system, reduces maintenance and 

adds line fault location functionality.

Through Basin Electric, we analyzed potential membership in a 

regional transmission organization in 2013. As our wholesale power 

supplier prepares to enter into membership with Southwest Power 

Pool, Corn Belt Power will need to make decisions regarding our 

transmission lines, finding the correct balance between opportunity 

and risk that will best lead our cooperative into the future.

Certainly, we know that load growth will be important for the future 

as it has been in our past. We are pleased to assist commercial and 

industrial accounts as they locate or expand on co-op lines. Through 

revolving loan funds, speculative buildings and industrial parks, Corn  

Belt Power and its member cooperatives continue our work to add jobs,  

grow tax revenue and provide opportunity to people in rural Iowa.

Another way we worked to grow load and spread out fixed costs 

in 2013 was by establishing new “Electric Value” incentives for 

members to install electric heating systems and electric water 

heaters. Growing load that can run at night helps us flatten the  

load curve and keeps electric rates affordable. 

Energy efficiency lowers members’ bills and delays the need to build 

additional generation. In 2013, Corn Belt Power’s member co-ops 

completed the fourth year of a five-year energy efficiency goal 

period and are seeing strong implementation of the programs that 

save energy and money.

Lastly, we know that communicating with members follows one 

of the basic cooperative principles. Whether explaining the value 

of the Touchstone Energy brand, educating members how to save 

electricity or encouraging Iowans to contact their legislators, we 

know that member communication is an essential part of doing 

business as a cooperative. 

We continually communicate to members how their cooperative 

membership benefits them. Our bottom line is not a number on a 

spreadsheet. Our bottom line is service to our members, because the 

cooperative belongs to its members.

That’s the cooperative difference and that’s what keeps Corn Belt Power 

and its member systems operating and enhancing the quality of life.
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2013
year in Review

2012 2013

Total Energy Sales 1,851,303,322 kWh 1,938,740,984 kWh

REC Peak Demand (no losses) 276,777 kW 283,223 kW

System Peak Demand 321,020 kW 318,661 kW

Miles of Transmission Lines * 1,749 1,749

Distribution Substations 148 150

Employees 91 90

 *Includes jointly owned transmission lines  

2013 
highlights

Responding to emerging technologies, new federal regulations, Mother Nature’s storms and 

expanded business opportunities throughout 2013, Corn Belt Power Cooperative held fast to 

its mission: “To enhance the quality of life for members, employees and communities.”

“I represent Corn Belt Power on  
the phone and at the front door.  
Having a real person greet  
people lets them know we are  
a Touchstone Energy Cooperative  
and that the power of human  
connections is part of our brand.”

Darcy Holland
administrative assistant
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Corn Belt Power sold more electricity to its member systems in 2013 than it did in any 

previous year, totaling almost 1,939 million kilowatt-hours. 

Sales increased 4.72 percent over the previous year’s total, with 

sales to member cooperatives 5.36 percent higher and sales to 

Webster City .15 percent higher. Sales to North Iowa Municipal Electric 

Cooperative Association were down 9.44 percent in 2013 compared 

to 2012.

Several factors contributed to the record high sales total. Weather 

conditions resulted in the 25th coolest and the 37th wettest year 

among 141 years of recorded measurements in the state. Unusual 

weather patterns in early 2013 — including a snowstorm in May 

— resulted in a late planting season. Cooler summer weather 

contributed to a late harvest season, which increased crop drying 

load for Corn Belt Power.

Commercial and industrial load also helped grow sales, with new 

and existing businesses adding or planning to add 12 megawatts of 

new load. Despite dealing with difficult weather conditions, the farm 

economy remained strong in 2013. Corn Belt Power member systems 

saw growth from agriculture-related manufacturing, additional 

swine and poultry facilities and new large grain storage sites. 

Other signs of a strong economy across the Corn Belt Power service 

territory included a low unemployment rate and new housing 

development projects. Additionally, all eight ethanol plants on Corn 

Belt Power members’ lines continued operation, with some installing 

additional motor load.

The Corn Belt Power system peak of approximately 319 megawatts 

occurred on Aug. 28 at 4:30 p.m., after several consecutive days of 

high summer temperatures.

The cost of electric power from Corn Belt Power increased 

approximately 6.2 percent in January 2013, due primarily to the 

cost of adding new wind, coal and gas generating facilities to 

Basin Electric Power Cooperative’s generation portfolio. Rates also 

continued to receive upward pressure from a host of new clean air 

regulations set by the Environmental Protection Agency.

Corn Belt Power will have 
stable rates in 2014.
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Mike finnegan
Journeyman electrician

“By providing relay protection, we prevent equipment 
damage and increase reliability of the power delivered. 
We work hard to restore power in a timely fashion  
after an outage, even in the middle of the night.”
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Cooperative 2012 kWh Billed by Corn Belt Power 2013 kWh Billed by Corn Belt Power
  
Boone Valley Electric Cooperative  9,839,690 kWh 10,767,942 kWh
  
Butler County REC  247,497,985 kWh 263,210,189 kWh
  
Calhoun County REC  37,951,775 kWh 40,996,190 kWh
  
Franklin REC  55,508,347 kWh 61,573,363 kWh
  
Grundy County REC  58,052,365 kWh 63,822,653 kWh
  
Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative 583,127,625 kWh 619,708,125 kWh
  
Midland Power Cooperative 313,803,587 kWh 324,856,557 kWh
  
Prairie Energy Cooperative  267,957,611 kWh 269,064,413 kWh
  
Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative  129,345,347 kWh 140,319,162 kWh
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Corn Belt Power Generation Mix 2013* 
(Delivered to Member Systems)

Coal – 70.8%

Renewable 
hydro – 6.9%

Renewable 
other – 10.4%

nuclear – 1.8%
natural gas – 0.3%

Purchase – 9.8%

Steam pours from the cooling tower at Wisdom Unit 1, which ran for 17 days in December. Record low temperatures reached minus 14 degrees with wind chill values 
plummeting to minus 40 degrees.

*Estimated percentages comprise Basin Electric Power Cooperative’s generation supplies and Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s Western Area Power Administration allocation.
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In the spring of 2013, the Corn Belt Power and Basin 

Electric boards of directors approved re-establishing 

natural gas capabilities at Corn Belt Power’s Wisdom Unit 

1, Spencer. The project will add fuel oil as a backup fuel 

supply for the plant and eliminate its ability to burn coal. 

Re-establishing natural gas will prolong the capability of 

the plant as new EPA regulations – set to take effect in 

April 2015  – would have made generating with coal at 

Wisdom Unit 1 cost prohibitive.

Corn Belt Power will complete the $4 to $4.5 million 

project before June 2014. Existing coal at the site fueled 

Wisdom Unit 1 during the summer and winter in 2013. 

In the fall of 2013, crews installed a scrubber and 

baghouse to reduce emissions from the George Neal 

Generating Station Unit 4, Sioux City, which Corn Belt 

Power jointly owns with several other utilities. Corn Belt 

Power and the city of Webster City’s share of the more 

than $250 million project totaled approximately  

$30 million.

These upgrades will reduce emissions of mercury, sulfur 

dioxide, nitrogen oxides and particulate matter, allowing 

the coal-fired plant to meet new EPA rules. During the 

upgrade outage, crews also installed new low-pressure 

steam turbines that will increase plant efficiency. 

2013 marked the second full year of Corn Belt Power’s 

Watts Smart load management program. By the end 

of the year, the program was controlling 4,665 water 

heaters and achieved an estimated total demand 

reduction of up to 7 megawatts. The program saved 

participating member cooperatives more than  

$1.1 million. 

L O A D  M A N A G E M E N T

®

poweR supply

Crews operate Wisdom Unit 1 to consume the coal inventory during the plant’s continuous, full-load 
operation in the summer.

Environmental additions made to the Neal 4 plant, jointly owned by Corn Belt Power and several 
other utilities, will reduce emissions of mercury, sulfur dioxides and particulate matter.
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Basin Electric’s evaluation of the pros and cons of regional 

transmission organization membership showed there is an overall 

positive financial benefit for the Integrated System parties to join the 

Southwest Power Pool. 

In 2013, Basin Electric added new generating assets to its portfolio. 

Pioneer Generation Station Unit 1, a natural gas-fired peaking 

plant northwest of Williston, N.D., began commercial operation 

in September. In December, Lonesome Creek Station Unit 1, a 

natural gas-fired peaking plant west of Watford City, N.D., began 

commercial operation. 

At its October 2013 meeting, the Basin Electric board of directors 

approved the north Killdeer loop project, which includes 60 miles 

of 345 kV transmission line and three substations. The project is an 

addition to the AVS to Neset transmission project, which includes a 

200-mile, 345 kV line from Basin Electric’s Antelope Valley Station to 

a substation near Tioga, N.D.

Basin Electric signed power purchase agreements for a 98-megawatt 

wind project in South Dakota and for 278 megawatts of wind power 

from projects in North Dakota to be operational by the end of 2015. 

Basin ElEctRic 

poweR CoopeRative

MWh MWh Annual Capacity Factor

Location Fuel 2012 2013 2013

Wisdom 1 Spencer, Iowa Coal 3,005 64,011 19.5%

Wisdom 2 Spencer, Iowa Natural Gas/Fuel Oil 3,359 4,840 1.4%

DAEC Palo, Iowa Nuclear 434,700 532,082 97.6%

Walter Scott 3 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 176,315 175,303 76.3%

Walter Scott 4 Council Bluffs, Iowa Coal 307,594 302,349 75.3%

Neal 4 Sioux City, Iowa Coal 572,064 421,664 64.3%

Crosswind Ayrshire, Iowa Wind 76,163 74,381 40.4%

Hancock Hancock County, Iowa Wind 29,398 28,918 29.4%

ILEC Wind Superior/Lakota, Iowa Wind 79,163 78,098 42.5%

by Corn Belt Power to Basin Electric and NIMECA

2013 energy supplied
*

…there is an overall positive financial benefit for the Integrated  
System parties to join the Southwest Power Pool. 

* Majority sources listed



Basin Electric personnel oversee construction of Lonesome Creek Station Unit 1, a natural gas-fired peaking plant west of Watford City, N.D. The plant began commercial 
operation in December.

Brian Gibson
outage coordinator

“It’s always our goal to restore  
members’ power back quickly,  
safely and effectively.  
we continually monitor  
voltages to keep levels  
acceptable to avoid motor  
damage or tripping  
off loads.”

11
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To serve growth in renewable energy generation, MidAmerican 

Energy Company and ITC Holdings Corporation will build 241 miles 

of new 345 kV transmission line in Iowa. The two projects will 

incorporate nearly 140 miles of Corn Belt Power’s existing 161 kV 

transmission line.

The project timeline has construction scheduled to begin in 

November 2014 with completion slated for December 2016. Before 

construction begins, Corn Belt Power will upgrade its Osgood 

Switching Station to allow for a second circuit to serve the Wisdom, 

Osgood and Burt facilities while crews tear down and replace the  

161 kV line.

To strengthen reliability in the Corn Belt Power system, crews 

worked on reconductoring 18.25 miles of transmission line from 

Hampton to Parkersburg. Additional reconductoring work will take 

place on a section of line from Dover Substation to Storm Lake. 

The John J. Schumacher Substation, now under construction and to 

be completed in 2014, will serve additional load in Raccoon Valley 

Electric Cooperative’s service territory. Crews will complete a new 

Okoboji Switching Station in 2014 to improve reliability in Iowa Lakes 

Electric Cooperative’s service territory.

In 2013, crews built the new Carrollton Switching Station near 

Coon Rapids to increase reliability by serving both the town of 

Coon Rapids and the nearby Poet Ethanol Plant from two different 

sources. The crews scheduled early morning work outages to best 

accommodate the members.

Late in 2013, crews upgraded the Wellsburg Switching Station to 

match another utility’s new 161 kV transformer capacity.

Corn Belt Power’s new digital mobile radio system, installed in 2013 

with completion slated for 2014, upgrades communications between 

workers in the field and dispatchers in the control center, increasing 

safety, response time and information accuracy. The new Mototrbo 

Connect Plus system, designed by Motorola, allows trucks to transmit 

their position using automatic vehicle location and complies with a 

newly mandated 12.5-kilohertz bandwidth.

enGineeRinG and 
systeM opeRations

Despite darkness and a downpour of rain, Corn Belt Power crews install a temporary bypass feed around the Carrollton Substation May 9. The outage was scheduled 
at a time when it was most convenient for the ethanol plant and city served by the substation.



The new radio system has “trunking” capabilities, allowing individuals 

to conduct several different conversations over only a few distinct 

frequencies. The radios can automatically log in to the closest 

repeater, so dispatchers don’t need to know truck locations.

In mid-October, Corn Belt Power crews replaced the last oil-filled  

69 kV circuit breaker with a new sulfur hexafluoride 6 breaker. The sf6 

breakers not only eliminate the need for oil purification maintenance, 

but they also increase the reliability of Corn Belt Power’s system.

Crews also installed new microprocessor relaying equipment when 

they changed out the breakers. The new relays send information on 

the location of line faults, so crews no longer have to drive miles of 

line looking for where damage is located.

Crews completed upgrades in several substations throughout the 

year, installing new transformers, regulators and capacitor banks. 

Implementation of new relay testing equipment began in 2013, 

increasing reliability by testing for outage-causing contingencies.

Mid-summer proved to be an especially challenging period for 

maintaining Corn Belt Power’s system. Four separate incidents  

of transmission line contact caused power outages for member 

cooperatives. Fortunately, no one was injured in any of the accidents.

Corn Belt Power linemen loaded poles and headed off to northwest Iowa 

to help L&O Power Cooperative restore service after an ice storm hit April 9. 

Later in the year, Mother Nature hit Corn Belt Power service territory when 

tornadoes damaged the Burt-Osgood 161 kV line south of Fenton and the 

Hanover Tap southeast of Alta. 

Criminal mischief caused damage to Corn Belt Power facilities during 

the year. On Jan. 6, rifle shots ripped holes in the jointly owned $7 

million Webster Switching Station transformer. Copper thieves struck 

Corn Belt Power at several different locations during the year. 

In October, control center personnel held system restoration drills, 

simulating procedures to be implemented should the entire Midwest 

electrical system go dark.

Corn Belt Power crews work on reconductoring 18.25 miles of transmission line from Hampton to Parkersburg. The project will improve reliability of the system.

“I help keep the radios running for  
Corn Belt Power and our distribution  
co-ops. That increases safety for  
the crews because two-way radios  
improve communication and  
allow all members of a crew  
to talk as a group and  
know what is going on.”

Chris shillington 
communications technician
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Top: Connor Almond, apprentice lineman, secures transmission poles in preparation for transporting them to L&O Power Cooperative’s State Line Substation after an 
ice storm hit northwest Iowa April 9.

Middle: Corn Belt Power crew members Joel Harklau, left photo, and Andy Stalzer, Travis Hefty and Justin Hinners, right photo, build the Carrollton Switching Station, 
which will improve reliability in the Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative service territory. 

Bottom left: A pickup truck is entangled in conductor downed across Highway 15 after tornadoes struck northwest Iowa Oct. 3. No one was hurt in the incident.

Bottom right: Corn Belt Power crews upgrade the Wellsburg Switching Station.



“ As a foreman, I take my job seriously.  
Our crew works to get our job done safely 
and in a timely manner. If there is an outage, 
we put our lives on hold to get the  
power back on for the members.  
It’s always rewarding to see the  
lights come on across the countryside  
after we repair storm damage.”

Dean Jensen
line foreman
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Top: Corn Belt Power electricians attend a training session to learn about new relay testing equipment.

Left: Jake O’Steen, communications technician, installs an antenna for the new digital mobile radio system. 

Right: Corn Belt Power crews replace the last 69 kV oil-filled circuit breaker with a new sulfur hexafluoride 6 breaker.



Representatives from New York financial rating agencies toured 

several sites showcasing the rural Iowa economy when Corn Belt 

Power hosted their visits Aug. 21 and 22 in the Okoboji and Spencer 

area. At Wisdom Station, the visitors heard details on the project to 

re-establish natural gas capabilities at the plant.

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services raised Corn Belt Power’s credit 

rating to an “A” rating with stable outlook, citing the cooperative’s 

strong partnerships and its financial capacity to meet its obligations. 

The previous year, in Corn Belt Power’s first-ever rating process, S&P 

issued the cooperative an “A-” rating. In 2013, Corn Belt Power also 

received an “A” rating from Kroll Bond Ratings in the agency’s first 

evaluation of the cooperative. 

As of Aug. 30, Corn Belt Power received an indenture of mortgage, 

approved by Rural Utilities Service, that will allow the cooperative to 

explore alternative financing in addition to loans from RUS. Corn Belt 

Power collaborated with a group of 10 generation and transmission 

cooperatives to complete the preliminary work leading up to the 

indenture being granted. 

At the end of 2013, the Corn Belt Power board approved deferring 

$1.25 million in revenue from 2013 to 2014 to help cover future expenses.

finanCe and 
aDMinistRation

Jill pliner
accountant i

“I work hard to provide ‘good numbers’  
so that management can be proactive 
and make important decisions for our 
members and employees. That helps  
Corn Belt Power provide safe,  
reliable and affordable power  
to its members.”

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services raised Corn Belt Power’s credit rating 
to an “A” rating with stable outlook.
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 • Its contract with Basin Electric Power Cooperative

 •  Its contracts with its member cooperatives  
through 2050

 • The member cooperatives’ good financial metrics

 •  The ability of Corn Belt Power and its members to  
set their own rates

 • Firm service territory boundaries set by Iowa law

 •  The strong operating performance of the assets  
Corn Belt Power and Basin Electric own

 •  The stable and healthy economy in the territory  
the cooperatives serve

 • A finalized indenture

 • High reliability of power delivered

 • The addition of two new switching stations 

 • The construction of Basin Electric’s Deer Creek Station 

rating agencies  
listed these factors  
as contributing to  
Corn Belt Power  
receiving an “A” rating:

development finance director
Brittany Dickey
“I manage our revolving loan fund, which provides low-interest 
loans to businesses and community projects in our area.  
The loan program helps businesses locate or expand  
in our communities, which creates and retains  
jobs. These funds have also assisted projects  
that include aquatic centers, hospitals and  
public infrastructure that enhance the  
quality of life in our communities.”

Ken Kuyper, executive vice president and general manager, and Karen Berte, senior vice 
president, finance and administration, sign documents for Corn Belt Power’s indenture.

Mike Thatcher, center, vice president, generation, and Mike Cowell, right, control operator, 
explain control center operations to representatives from a financial rating agency during 
a tour of Wisdom Station Aug. 22.
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Jim Vermeer, vice president, business development, and Brittany Dickey, development finance director, center, tour Country Maid, Inc., West Bend, a pastry 
manufacturer that received loans from Corn Belt Power’s revolving loan fund.

Butler Logistics Park, two miles west of Shell Rock, is the home of two new industries. Corn Belt Power, Butler County REC and Butler County Development 
partnered to develop the park.

Corn Belt Power assisted several companies through the 

cooperative’s revolving loan fund and its affiliation with 

the USDA Rural Development Loan and Grant program.
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BusinEss 
DevelopMent
A visit from RUS Administrator John Padalino in July acknowledged 

Corn Belt Power’s success in using revolving loan funds to stimulate 

economic growth. The visit preceded RUS’s announcement that 

it will change its financial reporting structure to exclude Rural 

Development loans from the calculation of electric co-ops’ equity 

ratio and debt service coverage. 

Butler County REC and Corn Belt Power partnered with Butler County 

Development to plan and market Butler Logistics Park, two miles 

west of Shell Rock. These partners developed a speculative building 

and helped finance a rail spur, leading to two businesses choosing 

Butler Logistics Park for their expansions. Corn Belt Power assisted 

the project by sponsoring a $740,000 pass-through loan from USDA 

Rural Development and by providing a $150,000 loan.

Corn Belt Power assisted several companies with their operations 

through the cooperative’s revolving loan fund and its affiliation with 

the USDA Rural Development Loan and Grant program. (See list on 

page 21.)

On Dec. 31, two Corn Belt Power member co-ops began providing 

power to the city of Dike. A partnership of Grundy County REC and 

Butler County REC serves as the town’s new power supplier, with 

Corn Belt Power and Basin Electric the wholesale power providers. 

During the year, Corn Belt Power’s board of directors approved 

contracts with municipal utilities, signing a 20-year agreement with 

the city of Fairbank and extending its agreement until 2033 with the 

city of Hudson. 

In May, Corn Belt Power helped sponsor a workshop with Iowa  

State University’s Center for Industrial Research and Service,  

titled “Discover Profitability through Innovation.” 

Iowa Area Development Group’s 2013 Venture Awards honored 

CPI–Prairie Gold Hatchery, Goldfield, a member of Prairie Energy 

Cooperative, and Brownmed, Inc., Spirit Lake, a member of Iowa 

Lakes Electric Cooperative. IADG also honored Corn Belt Power 

with an Impact Award, recognizing the cooperative’s support of 

businesses through its revolving loan fund.

In December, members of the Humboldt County Development 

Association elected Jim Vermeer, vice president, business 

development, Corn Belt Power, to serve as president of  

the organization. 

Residential & Other – 43%

Ethanol/Diesel – 22%

Manufacturing – 14%

Municipals – 8%

Swine – 7%

Poultry – 6%



New and Expanding Commercial  
and Industrial Loads:
AMCOL — Butler Logistics Park, Shell Rock, metal fabrication products 

manufacturer, 1.5 MW load, served by Butler County REC

Bomgaars — Humboldt, retail store, 35,000 square feet, 60 kW, 

served by Midland Power Cooperative

Bridges Bay — Arnolds Park, vacation homes, 150 kW, served by 

Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Brownmed, Inc. — Spirit Lake, medical device manufacturer, new 

50,000-square-foot addition, 200 kW load, served by Iowa Lakes 

Electric Cooperative

Centurion Poultry — Goldfield, chicken hatchery, 400 kW load, 

served by Prairie Energy Cooperative

City of Dike — new contract, 1.6 MW load, served jointly by Grundy 

County REC and Butler County REC

Corwith/Gold Eagle — Corwith, grain cooperative, 200 kW, served by 

Prairie Energy Cooperative

FedEx Distribution Center — East Lake Industrial Park, Spirit Lake,  

package delivery, 70 kW load, served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Flying J — near Williams, truck stop, remodeled, served by Midland 

Power Cooperative

Global Ag — Hampton, grain elevator supplies, 600 kW load, served by 

Franklin REC

Good Eggs — Hampton, egg production, 800 kW load, served by 

Franklin REC

Hall Industries — Hampton, portable conveyer manufacturer,  

550 kW, served by Franklin REC

Iowa Corn Processors — west of Glidden, corn dry milling, 1.4 MW 

load, served by Raccoon Valley Electric Cooperative

Koch Nitrogen — east of Fort Dodge, new administrative and  

control center for fertilizer plant, 200 kW load, served by  

Prairie Energy Cooperative

New spec building — Humboldt, 6,000 square feet, served  

by Midland Power Cooperative

Precision Tank — Humboldt, tank, applicator and equipment 

supplier, 200 kW initially, served by Midland Power Cooperative

Pro Cooperative — near Ayrshire, feed mill, 1.5 MW load, served by 

Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Rail site — Iowa Falls, 250 acres, served by Midland Power Cooperative

Sparky’s — near Rockwell City, truck stop, 100 kW load, served by Calhoun 

County REC

Titan Machinery — near Williams, agriculture equipment, served by 

Midland Power Cooperative

Unverferth Manufacturing — Shell Rock, grain wagon manufacturer, 

new 93,000-square-foot building, 750 kW, served by Butler County REC

Zinpro — Butler Logistics Park, Shell Rock, feed additives, 1.8 MW 

load, served by Butler County REC

Ethanol Expansions:
Great Plains — Lakota, 300 kW, served by Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative

Great Plains — Superior, 300 kW, served by Iowa Lakes Electric 

Cooperative

POET — Jewell, hammer mill addition, 400 kW, served by Midland 

Power Cooperative

Valero Renewable Fuels — Albert City, 600 kW, served by Iowa Lakes 

Electric Cooperative

Ag Expansions:
•	  12 grain bin sites, 2,825 kW total, served by Iowa Lakes  

Electric Cooperative

•	  4 grain bin sites, 1,000 kW total, served by Prairie  

Energy Cooperative

•	  4 hog finishing sites, 25 kW each, served by Calhoun  

County REC 

Left: John Padalino, center left, administrator, Rural Utilities Service, visits Corn Belt Power May 23 in recognition of the cooperative’s success using revolving loan 
funds to stimulate economic growth.

Right: Brittany Dickey, development finance director, removes a for sale sign from a house built by the Humboldt County Housing Development Corporation.  
Corn Belt Power provides revolving loan funds for the housing projects.



Jake olberding
proJect engineer ii

“the load management system  
impacts the lives of our members 
by helping them save money on 
their monthly electric bills.  
My job is to operate the load 
management system in a way  
that saves money while  
maintaining member  
satisfaction.”

Municipal Contract Renewals:
Callender: 10 years – served by Calhoun County REC

Fairbank: 20 years – served by Butler County REC

Farnhamville: 20 years – served by Calhoun County REC

Fredericksburg: 20 years – served by Butler County REC

Hudson: 20 years – served by Butler/Grundy

Readlyn: 20 years – served by Butler County REC

Renwick: 20 years – served by Boone Valley Electric Cooperative

Revolving Loan Fund Activity:
 Brown Development, doing business as Brownmed, Spirit Lake. 

$150,000 IRP loan for 50,000-square-foot manufacturing expansion

 Butler County Development Corporation, Shell Rock. $150,000 REDL&G 

loan for 30,000-square-foot speculative building

 Country Maid, West Bend. $250,000 loan for equipment purchases 

($132,000 new IRP loan and $118,000 REDL&G loan)

 Franklin County Development Association, Hampton. $250,000 

REDL&G loan for 30,000-square-foot speculative building

 Humboldt County Development Association, Humboldt. Up to 

$150,000 REDL&G loan for 6,000-square-foot commercial speculative 

building

 Humboldt County Housing Development Corporation, Humboldt. 

$75,000 REDL&G loan for Building Trades house #12 

 i2i Clarion, Inc., Clarion. $150,000 REDL&G loan for new housing 

development

 M&M Ventures, Algona. $150,000 IRP loan for construction of new 

Polaris dealership

  Parkview Manor, Inc., Reinbeck. $200,000 REDL&G loan for new 

assisted living facility 

 Printing Services, Inc., Belmond. $150,000 IRP loan for new printing press
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Corn Belt Power’s energy efficiency programs made 
steady progress throughout 2013. 
Energy efficiency incentives paid to members during the year totaled 

almost $125,000 for commercial/industrial/agricultural programs and 

over $508,000 for residential programs. 

Geothermal and air source heat pumps topped the list for the most 

residential deemed kilowatt-hour savings. Rebates for installing 

light-emitting diode lighting increased in 2013 as members found 

more LED options in the marketplace. 

Lighting retrofits and new installations were responsible for about 

83 percent of REC commercial and industrial/agricultural deemed 

kilowatt-hour savings in 2013.

Although collective member cooperative kilowatt-hour savings in 

2013 totaled less than the annual goal, member systems continued well 

on track to reach their five-year (2010-2014) combined program goals.

In November, Corn Belt Power chose C.H. Guernsey and Company  

to conduct an energy efficiency assessment of potential and  

cost-effectiveness study, which will help determine energy efficiency 

programs, goals and incentives for 2015 to 2019. 

With other Iowa cooperatives and with support from the Iowa 

Energy Center, Corn Belt Power helped host the annual Momentum 

is Building conference in February, providing technical and energy 

efficiency information for electric co-op personnel and contractors. 

Corn Belt Power and its members sponsored four Build it Right 

classes in March, spotlighting energy efficiency expert Bill McAnally 

and providing continuing education credits for licensed electricians. 

The name of the Efficient Energy Services Committee changed to  

the Touchstone Energy Services Committee in December. 

EnERgy
efficiency

Kevin white
shift operator

“Shift operators work to provide power to members when 
we get the call from Basin Electric to operate. We do a 
lot of maintenance and upkeep to the building, property and 
equipment to make sure we are ready to go when needed. 
We do a lot of the work in-house  
to keep the cost per  
megawatt-hour lower.”
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Variable Frequency Drives – 207,324

Ag/Custom – 117,017

Pull the Plug – 364,366

Residential Energy Audits – 107,350

Insulation & Weatherization – 163,475

Low Income Kits – 344,644

ENERGY STAR Appliances – 173,732

Low Flow Showerheads/Aerators – 420,488

Water Heaters – 174,782

Commercial & Industrial Lighting – 2,494,199

Residential Lighting – 618,062

Air Source Heat Pumps – 1,016,313

Geothermal Heat Pumps – 1,795,252

ENERGY STAR Central Air Conditioning – 21,353

2013 Deemed kWh Savings

kWh

Larry Beilke, energy advisor, Midland Power Cooperative, checks out what’s new in energy efficient lighting at the Momentum is Building conference Feb. 14 in West Des Moines.  
Corn Belt Power and its member co-ops sponsor the conference with other Iowa electric cooperatives and the Iowa Energy Center.
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In 2013, Corn Belt Power and its members introduced the “Electric 

Value” program, boosting rebates to promote efficient use of 

electricity for heating, cooling and water heating. 

With Central Iowa Power Cooperative and Northwest Iowa Power 

Cooperative, Corn Belt Power jointly conducted a member survey in 

the spring of 2013 to determine communication and media usage, 

media preferences and future communication opportunities using 

new technologies. 

New directors and employees from Corn Belt Power’s member 

cooperatives attended Orientation Days in January. Also in January, 

the Touchstone Energy brand celebrated its 15th anniversary with a 

Brand Summit. Co-op brand managers reviewed the development 

of the brand with a panel discussion that included Kathy Taylor, vice 

president, corporate relations, Corn Belt Power, who served on the 

original Touchstone Energy board of directors.

Corn Belt Power expanded its website portal program in 2013, 

welcoming NIPCO and its member cooperatives to share web content 

while allowing each co-op to individually tailor its site. 

All of Iowa’s Touchstone Energy Cooperatives sponsored the 

4-H Exhibits Building at the Iowa State Fair Aug. 8-18. Co-op 

representatives staffed an energy efficiency display. Fairgoers could 

have their photos taken as part of a lineman cutout and post them  

to social media to win a prize.

Corporate Relations personnel created and uploaded two new heat 

pump videos to YouTube that include testimonials from members 

about the advantages of geothermal and air source heat pumps. 

Corn Belt Power staff received a second place Award of Merit in the 

Spotlight on Excellence, Best Total Communication Program for its 

Watts Smart load management materials.

In December, Corn Belt Power and its member cooperatives 

promoted the value of co-op membership with a direct mail 

campaign. The campaign featured a contest in which members 

wrote why they like being an electric co-op member.

CoRpoRate
RElations

Most Preferred Co-op Communication by Age

0 16 32 48 64 80
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Top: Joe Hanrahan, right, chief system operator, explains control center operations to attendees of Corn Belt Power Orientation Days Jan. 8. New employees and directors 
of Corn Belt Power and its member systems attended.

Left: Corn Belt Power, along with all of the Touchstone Energy Cooperatives of Iowa, sponsored the 4-H Exhibits Building at the Iowa State Fair.

Right: Lawrnie and Patty Seamans, members of Butler County REC, are featured in a Corn Belt Power video promoting geothermal heat pumps.



Corn Belt Power welcomed Gov. Terry Branstad and Lt. Gov. Kim Reynolds to its 
Humboldt headquarters Aug. 29. Electric co-op and municipal utility leaders voiced 
their concerns about new governmental rules and regulations that will affect the cost  
of electric service for Iowans.  

Congressman Steve King met with electric co-op representatives  

at Midland Power Cooperative’s headquarters in Jefferson Aug. 7.  

The congressman heard about the negative economic impact 

EPA’s new regulations will have on Iowans, who rely more on coal 

generation than people in other parts of the country do. 

Co-op leaders discussed the effect of EPA regulations during visits 

with legislators in Washington, D.C. in May and September and 

state representatives in Des Moines throughout the 2013 legislative 

session. They also communicated their concern regarding changes 

the Federal Emergency Management Agency implemented for 

accessing storm recovery funds. At the state level, the need for a 

stray voltage standard was a primary topic during the Legislative 

Reception Jan. 15, REC Day on the Hill March 19 and fall meetings 

throughout the state in November. 

GoveRnMent
RElations

Left: Midland Power Cooperative directors discuss issues of importance to electric co-ops with Sen. Daryl Beall, right, during the Welcome Back Legislative Reception 
Jan. 15 in Des Moines.

Right: Kathy Taylor, vice president, corporate relations, meets with Congressman Bruce Braley to explain how a change in FEMA rules negatively affects electric co-ops 
Sept. 17 in Washington, D.C.



Carla Hofmaster
environmental & safety coordinator

“The most important focus of my job is to  
make sure we get everyone home each night — 
that they’re not hurt, they’ve  
done their job and are ready  
for the next day or next  
emergency. We make sure  
employees have the  
equipment they need  
to stay safe while  
they serve  
our members.” 

Ken Kuyper, executive vice president and general manager, listens as Gov. Terry Branstad and Lt. Gov. Kim Reynolds explain their goal of job creation in Iowa.  
Gov. Branstad and Lt. Gov. Reynolds visited Corn Belt Power headquarters Aug. 29.
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In October, Corn Belt Power launched a new 
Power Page intranet site using SharePoint 
software, providing a platform to access and 
share information. 

The site also provides a directors’ area that stores reports, forms 

and documents. SharePoint’s versioning feature streamlines the 

documentation process required to comply with North American 

Electric Reliability Corporation regulations.

I Act University held several sessions throughout the year to improve 

employees’ communication skills and enhance their performance. 

Classes dealt with stress management, interviewing skills, 

motivating employees and the “color” of personalities.

human
REsouRcEs

Left: Corn Belt Power employees choose who will be their next small group leader during I Act University training.

Right: Jarrod Edge, consultant with Spindustry Systems, Inc., conducts training on the new Power Page intranet site with Diane Wempen, executive assistant,  
and Jake Olberding, engineer II.
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NEW EMPLOyEES
Jon Behounek, system operator 

Matthew Donald,  apprentice electrician 

Jodi Reekers, billing & accounting analyst 

Kari Rubel, accountant I 

Austin Swab, apprentice electrician 

Jamie Taylor, apprentice lineman 

Andrew Thompson, information technology specialist 

Mitchell Thompson, apprentice electrician 

Ross Welterlen, energy management engineer 

Ashly Zinnel, accountant I

RETIREMENTS
Michael Anderson, environmental & safety coordinator 

Gary Brinkley, electrical maintenance foreman 

Coleen Davis, accounts payable 

Ronald Davis, communications technician 

James Fevold, custodian 

William Foreman, lineman 

Joseph Hanrahan, chief system operator 

Kathy Saathoff, billing & accounting analyst 

Daniel Watnem, transmission superintendent  

 
 
 

NEW TITLES
Brian Gibson, SCADA technician to system operator  

 to outage coordinator 

Travis Hefty, journeyman lineman to line foreman 

David Heyden, journeyman electrician to electrical maintenance foreman 

Carla Hofmaster, environmental & safety specialist to environmental &  

 safety coordinator   

Robert Nielsen, line foreman to transmission superintendent 

Kent Paeper, fleet/material assistant to custodian 

Curtis Thelen, information technology specialist to SCADA administrator 

Michael Zabel, outage coordinator to chief system operator

SERVICE AWARDS
Bob Nielsen, transmission superintendent, 40 years 

Diane Wempen, executive assistant, 35 years 

Karen Berte, senior vice president, finance & administration, 30 years 

Sarah Dornath, administrative assistant, 25 years 

Denny Evans, field engineering foreman, 25 years 

Patrick Connor, plant manager, 20 years 

Mike Thatcher, vice president, generation, 15 years 

Jim Vermeer, vice president, business development, 15 years 

Josie Ubben, drafting and design technician, 10 years 

Mike Devers, journeyman field technician, 5 years 

Chris Smith, journeyman lineman, 5 years 

Andy Stalzer, journeyman lineman, 5 years 

Matt Wittrock, journeyman field technician, 5 years

“We strive to hire quality  
employees and we are proud  
to bring new people to our  
communities. We look for  
employees who demonstrate  
the four core values of  
teamwork, commitment,  
accountability and  
integrity.”

Jennifer arndorfer
human resources specialist
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The merger of member cooperatives Humboldt County REC and  
Midland Power Cooperative became effective Jan. 1, 2013. On Aug. 22, 
the newly merged Midland Power held its first annual meeting. 

In April, Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative tapped Rick Olesen, long-time vice president of operations  

and engineering, to be the cooperative’s next president and chief executive officer.

On June 12, two tornadoes that touched down in Belmond, Iowa, took out numerous trees, ripped 

shingles from roofs, blew out car windows and brought to a close the Prairie Energy Cooperative 

annual meeting being held at the Belmond-Klemme High School. 

mEmBER
CoopeRatives

Belmond, Iowa • June 12, 2013

Jim sayers
energy services director

“Encouraging the wise use of electricity 
through energy efficiency is a key focus  
of Corn Belt Power and its members.  
By saving energy, member-owners  
can increase comfort,  
save money and  
improve their  
quality of living.”
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mEmBER
CoopeRatives

2013member
cooperatives

1.   Iowa Lakes  
Electric Cooperative

2. Midland Power Cooperative
3.  Boone valley  

Electric Cooperative
4. Prairie Energy Cooperative
5. Franklin REC
6. Butler County reC
7. raccoon valley  
 Electric Cooperative
8. Calhoun County reC
9. grundy County reC

Diane wempen
executive assistant

North Iowa Municipal Electric Cooperative Association (NIMECA). Serving municipal utilities of Algona, Alta, Bancroft, Coon Rapids, 

Graettinger, Grundy Center, Laurens, Milford, New Hampton, Spencer, Sumner, Webster City and West Bend.

“I keep our board members informed  
and provide the resources they  
need for meetings. I also work  
to make sure information is  
recorded accurately and in  
a timely fashion so the  
board can function well.”
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DepaRtMent HeaDs

Ken Kuyper 
Executive Vice President & General Manager 

Karen Berte 
Senior Vice President,  

Finance & Administration 

Kevin Bornhoft 
Vice President, 

 Engineering & System Operations

 Kathy taylor 
Vice President, Corporate Relations 

Mike Thatcher 
Vice President, Generation 

Jim Vermeer 
Vice President,  

Business Development

dennis anderson
information technology director

“We work to protect sensitive  
data and keep our system  
secure from spyware and  
malware. We work to make  
it easier for employees to  
do their jobs by providing  
efficient information technology  
services. That helps us serve  
members better.”
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Charles gilbert
MIDLAND POWER COOPERATIVE 

BASIN ELECTRIC REPRESENTATIVE

l. Kirby range
IOWA LAKES ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

larry rohach
GRUNDY COUNTY REC

BoaRD of DiReCtoRs

scott stecher
SECRETARY 

PRAIRIE ENERGY COOPERATIVE

ronald Deiber
VICE PRESIDENT 

NIMECA

Donald Feldman
PRESIDENT 

BUTLER COUNTY REC

Dale Schaefer
ASSISTANT SECRETARY/TREASURER 

FRANKLIN REC

terry Finley
CALHOUN COUNTY REC

David Onken  
TREASURER 

RACCOON VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

C orn Belt P ower C o oPerat ive
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“My job involves all aspects of Corn Belt’s generation 
assets. We have the responsibility to operate the 
units in a safe, low-cost manner, while maintaining 
compliance with new and challenging environmental 
regulations. This aspect of my job helps provide  
lower cost electricity to our members while  
minimizing the impact to the air, water and land.” 

— Mike Thatcher, vice president, generation

“Because we want to provide a very reliable energy 
source for our members, we go to great lengths to 
ensure good service. We work hard to make outage 
times short.” 

— Jon Girres, journeyman electrician

“I provide thermal imaging, ultrasound inspection 
and power quality monitoring services. These are 
diagnostic tools that help commercial and industrial 
members reduce disruptions from electrical and  
mechanical failures. These programs help maintain 
the profitability for member businesses.” 

— Ross Welterlen, energy management engineer

“I ensure Corn Belt Power has the funds needed for 
its operation, maintenance and capital improvements.  
Our department also looks for ways to make the  
cooperative more efficient by lowering costs or 
finding better ways to do our jobs.” 

— Karen Berte, senior vice president, finance & administration

“I improve the quality of life from an engineering  
planning perspective. We make sure that, if there 
is an outage, there is no overloading on the lines 
or low voltage for members.”

— Tyler Baxter, engineer II

“My job designing more reliable transmission lines 
provides a high level of service and helps prevent 
power outages to our members.” 

— Josie Ubben, drafting & design technician

“My primary responsibility is to track physical  
assets and inventory owned by Corn Belt Power. 
Keeping this information accurate allows employees 
time to get vendor quotes for new inventory and 
plan ahead to avoid excess costs that can occur 
when rushing to place an order.” 

— Faith Warden, property accountant

“I’m proud of how the Business Development Department  
helps to grow the rural economy throughout our 
system. The development of 24 industrial parks and 
30 speculative buildings has helped to attract and 
retain thousands of jobs within the region. We have 
developed powerful partnerships that improve the 
quality of life.” 

— Jim Vermeer, vice president, business development

“I would say that as an accountant I improve/maintain 
the quality of life by ensuring that our employees 
get paid accurately for their hours worked . By providing  
paychecks, we make sure we have the manpower 
needed to deliver power to our members.” 

— Ashly Zinnel, accountant I

“I oversee planning of the transmission system, 
construction and maintenance of the transmission 
lines, substations and communications systems, and 
operation of the control center. I help our members 
by ensuring that the efforts of all departments 
are coordinated. Our goal is to provide electricity  
in a highly reliable and safe manner.” 

— Kevin Bornhoft, vice president, engineering & system operations

“I look for creative ways to communicate the co-op’s  
message to members, the community and fellow  
employees by using graphics, photos, video, social 
media, the web and the written word.” 

— Marena Fritzler, graphic designer

enhancing the quality of life
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“I strive to improve IT manageability as well as  
the IT process. Doing this not only helps reduce 
the number of problems that can appear, but  
when those problems do show up, it enables us to 
efficiently resolve those issues. By reducing the 
time-to-resolution as well as the number of  
problems, we are enabling better service to  
members and employees.” 

— Andrew Thompson, information technology specialist

“I work to provide good data to the office, schedule 
operators to cover shifts, order supplies to complete 
jobs, help schedule and prioritize maintenance  
activities and monitor environmental guidelines,  
all to help keep our plants a reliable source of  
generation. I am one small piece of what it takes 
to keep a power plant available for operation when 
our members need us.” 

— Patrick Connor, plant manager

“I work to ensure that all documentation needed 
to meet NERC mandated requirements for reliable 
electricity is current and correct.” 

— Sue Richardson, administrative assistant

“Paying invoices in a timely manner and having the 
money to do so keeps our business running. Good 
customer service and paying on time helps the  
cooperative create relationships with our vendors.”  

— Kari Rubel, accountant I

“I keep our employees organized by providing office 
supplies. I also assist co-op employees by serving 
lunches, coordinating meetings and providing monthly 
billings and publications.” 

— Sarah Dornath, administrative assistant

“The most gratifying part of my job is to see how 
the maintenance department guys work hard and 
pull together to ensure that the power plant is 
ready to operate whenever we are called upon to 
supply electrical power to our member cooperatives.” 

— Ray Lathrop, maintenance supervisor

“It’s important that our legislators, at both the 
state and federal levels, hear electric co-op  
members’ voices. We work to make sure that our 
elected officials know how the issues affect electric 
co-ops and the Iowans they serve.” 

— Kathy Taylor, vice president, corporate relations

Kurt olson
Warehouse/fleet supervisor

“We work to keep all of the cooperative’s 
vehicles operable and safe. We get any 
problems with the trucks fixed quickly 
when crews need to be out in the field 
so they can get the power  
back on. It’s also important  
to keep our fleet updated  
with new equipment.”
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independent auditors’ Report
The Board of Directors 
Corn Belt Power Cooperative:

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Corn Belt Power Cooperative, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 

31, 2013 and 2012, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, comprehensive income, membership capital, and cash flows for the 

years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITy FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITy

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 

auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and in accordance with the standards applicable to financial audits 

contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial position of Corn Belt Power 

Cooperative as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

OTHER REPORTING REqUIRED By GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 28, 2014 on our consideration of Corn Belt 

Power Cooperative’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 

contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 

over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial 

reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 

considering Corn Belt Power Cooperative’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Omaha, Nebraska 

February 28, 2014

Corn Belt Power Cooperative • 2013 Annual Report
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ASSETS    

 2013 2012
Electric plant:    

 In service $ 460,205,302 415,934,691 

  Less accumulated depreciation  (224,028,954) (216,082,453)

    236,176,348 199,852,238 

 Construction work in progress  17,394,722 32,004,723   

 Nuclear fuel, net of amortization  10,659,093 11,812,999   

    264,230,163 243,669,960   

Other property and investments:    

 Nonutility property  215,193 259,971   

 Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative    

  Finance Corporation (NRUCFC)  4,671,317 4,652,910   

 Decommissioning fund  41,235,749 35,197,122   

 Other investments  24,322,612 18,964,653   

 Special funds  2,355,640 7,132,256   

 Notes receivable  4,857,615 4,978,712   

 Other assets  2,025,419 1,930,240   

    79,683,545 73,115,864   

Deferred charges:    

 DAEC regulatory asset  3,033,331 3,183,744   

 Decommissioning regulatory asset  32,065,305 31,378,337   

 Pension prepayment  3,783,045 —    

 Other   —  288,453   

    38,881,681 34,850,534   

Current assets:   

 Cash and cash equivalents  11,440,513 1,398,823   

 Special funds  1,817,987 —    

 Member accounts receivable  12,355,681 10,596,075   

 Other receivables  717,808 270,763   

 Inventories:   

  Fuel  7,035,841 9,608,549   

  Materials and supplies  9,942,565 9,509,580   

 Prepayments  296,398 262,432   

 Deferred refueling costs  1,329,562 2,925,038   

    44,936,355 34,571,260

   $ 427,731,744 386,207,618

      

    

Balance sheets
December 31, 2013 and 2012

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Corn Belt Power Cooperative • 2013 Annual Report Enhancing the quality of Life
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MEMBERSHIP CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES

 2013 2012
Membership capital:    

 Memberships, at $100 per membership $ 1,100 1,200   

 Deferred patronage dividends, restricted  37,511,650 31,751,200   

 Other equities, per accompanying statements  53,050,616 50,414,091   

 Accumulated other comprehensive income  7,869,307 4,355,268   

    98,432,673 86,521,759   

Long-term debt:    

 Federal Financing Bank  186,502,499 171,419,716  

 Revenue bonds  14,846,667 14,915,000   

 NRUCFC  8,654,888 5,630,284   

 USDA intermediary relending program  4,270,209 4,341,655   

    214,274,263 196,306,655   

 Less – current maturities of long-term debt  13,318,819 12,280,548   

    200,955,444 184,026,107   

Other long-term liabilities:    

 DAEC decommissioning liability  65,292,000 62,183,000   

 Ash landfill retirement obligation  939,513 830,620   

    66,231,513 63,013,620   

Current liabilities:    

 Current maturities of long-term debt  13,318,819 12,280,548   

 Short-term debt  37,000,000 30,000,000   

 Accounts payable  6,916,853 6,735,206   

 Accrued property and other taxes  2,885,237 2,865,196   

 Deferred credit  1,250,553 —    

 Accrued interest and other  740,652 765,182   

    62,112,114 52,646,132

   $ 427,731,744 386,207,618  

Balance sheets
December 31, 2013 and 2012

Corn Belt Power Cooperative • 2013 Annual Report

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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 2013 2012
Operating revenues:    

 Sale of electric energy $ 125,531,106 115,926,441   

 Lease revenue  1,440,758 1,440,758   

 Other    5,255,241 4,736,723   

     132,227,105 122,103,922   

Operating expenses:    

 Operation:     

  Steam and other power generation  39,992,328 35,655,015   

  Purchased power, net  47,327,671 42,057,507   

  Transmission  6,169,848 5,295,787   

  Sales   2,578,831 2,326,610   

  Administrative and general  3,766,791 3,414,078   

 Maintenance:    

  Steam and other power generation  8,101,547 7,051,903   

  Transmission  1,897,328 1,783,202   

  General plant  152,684 143,506   

 Depreciation and decommissioning  9,648,737 9,538,500   

 (Gain)/loss on the disposition of property  2,479 (85,230)  

   Total operating expenses  119,638,244 107,180,878   

   Net operating revenues  12,588,861 14,923,044   

Interest and other deductions:    

 Interest on long-term debt  9,210,607 8,994,899   

 Interest during construction  (364,106) (191,816)  

 Other interest and deductions  874,207 231,798   

   Total interest and other deductions  9,720,708 9,034,881   

   Net operating margin  2,868,153 5,888,163   

Nonoperating margin:    

 Interest and dividend income  609,108 525,482   

 Patronage income  5,378,071 4,114,465   

 Other, net   477,123 19,393   

   Total nonoperating margin  6,464,302 4,659,340   

   Net margin $ 9,332,455 10,547,503   

     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

statements of Revenues and expenses
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
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 2013 2012
Net margin  $ 9,332,455 10,547,503

Change in unrealized gain in fair value of investments  3,514,039 2,495,725

 Comprehensive income $ 12,846,494 13,043,228

statements of Comprehensive income
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

statements of Membership Capital
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

      

Balance, December 31, 2011 $ 74,273,579 1,200 24,667,500 7,487,484 40,257,852 1,859,543   

 2012 net margin  10,547,503 — 7,878,748 2,262,516 406,239 —    

 Revenue deferred patronage dividends  181,252 — 181,252 — — —    

 Change in fair value of investments  2,495,725 — — — — 2,495,725   

 Patronage dividends paid  (976,300) — (976,300) — — —    

Balance, December 31, 2012  86,521,759 1,200 31,751,200 9,750,000 40,664,091 4,355,268   

 2013 net margin  9,332,455 — 6,695,930 2,300,000 336,525 —    

 Revenue deferred patronage dividends  82,720 — 82,720 — — —    

 Change in fair value of investments  3,514,039 — — — — 3,514,039   

 Patronage dividends paid  (1,018,200) — (1,018,200) — — —    

 Memberships returned  (100) (100) — — — —    

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 98,432,673 1,100 37,511,650 12,050,000 41,000,616 7,869,307 

 

Total Membership

Other equities

Deferred 
patronage 
dividends

Statutory 
surplus

Reserve for 
contingent 

losses

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income
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statements of Cash flows
Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:    

 Net margin    $ 9,332,455 10,547,503   

 Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided by    

  operating activities:    

   Depreciation and decommissioning  9,648,737 9,688,913   

   Amortization of nuclear fuel  4,360,945 3,717,155   

   Amortization of deferred refueling costs  1,595,476 1,735,908   

   Pension advance  (3,783,045) —    

   Undistributed patronage earnings from other investments  (5,278,659) (4,059,926)  

   Changes in current assets and liabilities:   

    Receivables  (2,206,651) (1,923,594)  

    Inventories  2,139,723 (311,990)  

    Prepayments  (33,966) (32,058)  

    Deferred refueling costs  — (3,285,627)  

    Other – deferred costs  218,473 (293,318)  

    Accounts payable  205,464 2,609,910   

    Accrued property and other taxes  20,041 (415,306)  

    Deferred credit  1,250,553 (1,250,000)  

    Accrued interest and other  45,450 62,182   

     Net cash provided by operating activities  17,514,996 16,789,752   

Cash flows from investing activities:    

 Additions to electric plant, net  (31,127,357) (35,122,414)  

 Additions to nuclear fuel  (3,207,039) (1,828,150)  

 Sale of nonutility plant   44,778 (3,587)  

 Distributions from special funds  4,757,284 —    

 Additions to special funds  (1,333,224) (5,822,118)  

 (Additions)/deductions to other investments, other assets, investment in    

  NRUCFC, and notes receivable  10,831 (137,054)  

     Net cash used in investing activities  (30,854,727) (42,913,323)  

Cash flows from financing activities:    

 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  30,474,346 24,758,000   

 Repayment of long-term debt  (13,074,725) (14,365,733)  

 Short-term borrowings, net  7,000,000 14,000,000   

 Deferred patronage dividends paid  (1,018,200) (976,300)  

     Net cash provided by financing activities  23,381,421 23,415,967   

     Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  10,041,690 (2,707,604)  

Cash and cash equivalents at:    

 Beginning of year    1,398,823 4,106,427   

 End of year    $ 11,440,513 1,398,823 

     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(1) ORGANIZATION

Corn Belt Power Cooperative (the Cooperative) is a Rural Utilities Service (RUS) financed generation and transmission cooperative created 

and owned by nine distribution cooperatives and one municipal cooperative association. Electricity supplied by the Cooperative serves farms, 

small towns, and commercial and industrial businesses across counties in northern Iowa.

The Cooperative’s Board of Directors (Board of Directors) comprises one representative from each member cooperative and is responsible for, 

among other things, establishing rates charged to the member cooperatives.

(2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Cooperative maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed by the RUS. The financial 

statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements have been prepared on the basis of U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The significant accounting policies are as follows:

  (a) REGULATORy MATTERS 
The Cooperative’s utility operations are subject to provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 980, Regulated Operations. 

Therefore, its utility operations recognize the effects of rate regulation by the Board of Directors and, accordingly, have recorded 

regulated assets to reflect the impact of regulatory items for which future rates will be increased to recover and a regulated liability 

for revenues deferred at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The regulatory assets are included within deferred charges and the 

regulatory liability is included within deferred credit on the balance sheets.

  (b) ELECTRIC PLANT 
Electric plant is stated at original cost, which includes payroll and related benefits and interest during the period of construction.

  Costs in connection with repairs of properties and replacement of items less than a unit of property are charged to maintenance 

expense. Additions to and replacements of units of property are charged to electric plant accounts.

  Depreciation is provided using straight-line methods and RUS-prescribed lives. These provisions, excluding nuclear facilities, were 

equivalent to a composite depreciation rate on gross plant of 2.50% and 2.63% for 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

  Under a joint ownership agreement, the Cooperative has a 10% undivided interest in the Duane Arnold Energy Center (DAEC), a nuclear-

fueled generating station, which was placed in service in 1974. The Cooperative is depreciating its interest in the DAEC and each year’s 

property additions subsequent to 1984 on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) 

license for DAEC. The composite depreciation rate on gross plant for DAEC was 1.25% and 1.04% for 2013 and 2012, respectively.

 (c) DECOMMISSIONING OF DAEC 
  The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an asset retirement obligation (ARO) for its 10% share of the estimated cost to decommission 

DAEC. An NRC estimate of the decommissioning costs of DAEC was performed in 2008, and updated in 2010. This report estimated 

the Cooperative’s share of the decommissioning costs of DAEC to be approximately $76,159,700 (in 2008 dollars). The Cooperative is 

providing for overall nuclear decommissioning costs using a funding method designed to accumulate a decommissioning reserve 

sufficient to cover the Cooperative’s share of decommissioning costs by the year 2034, the year in which the license expires.

  The total fair value of the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2013 was $41,235,749, of which $25,499,177 has been placed 

in a fund legally restricted for use in decommissioning DAEC. The remaining $15,736,572, while not legally restricted, has been designated by 

the Cooperative for use in decommissioning DAEC. The total fair value of the decommissioning funds accumulated at December 31, 2012 was 

$35,197,122, of which $21,568,060 was legally restricted and $13,629,062 designated for decommissioning by the Cooperative. 

notes to financial statements
December 31, 2013 and 2012
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 Decommissioning investments were classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 

included as a component of comprehensive income. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, available-for-sale securities consisted of  

the following:

 Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
 cost gains losses value

2013:        

 Obligations of U.S. government and agencies $ 1,911,470 23,595 46,988 1,888,077  

 Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  3,637,296 221,635 85,044 3,773,887 

 Managed futures funds  1,050,000 4,028 32,642 1,021,386 

 Common and preferred stock and funds  19,290,043 7,694,996 295,720 26,689,319    

 Hedge funds  114,038 6,935 — 120,973    

 Cash and cash equivalents  1,001,098 — — 1,001,098 

 Foreign investments – common stock  6,222,750 644,755 126,496 6,741,009    

   $ 33,226,695 8,595,944 586,890 41,235,749  

 Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
 cost gains losses value

2012:        

 Obligations of U.S. government and agencies $ 1,384,170 39,576 7,472 1,416,274   

 Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  2,815,922 145,325 7,734  2,953,513    

 Managed futures funds  1,050,000 — 12,589 1,037,411    

 Common and preferred stock and funds  17,864,462 4,280,297 465,005 21,679,754    

 Hedge funds  162,912 33,901 — 196,813 

 Cash and cash equivalents  811,569 —  — 811,569    

 Foreign investments – common stock  6,230,643 455,103 135,104 6,550,642 

 Foreign investments – government funds  484,985 66,161 — 551,146 

   $ 30,804,663 5,020,363 627,904 35,197,122

Maturities of securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2013:

      

 Amortized Fair 
 cost value

Due within 1 year $ 3,182,680 3,294,374 

Due after 1 year and through 5 years  1,446,551 1,459,487 

Due after 5 years and through 10 years  642,973 650,136 

Due after 10 years  276,562 257,967 

Equity securities  25,512,793 33,430,328 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,001,098 1,001,098 

Managed futures  1,050,000 1,021,386 

Hedge funds  114,038 120,973 

   $ 33,226,695 41,235,749

 Realized gains and losses from the available-for-sale securities are determined on a specific-identification basis. Realized gains on investments 

available-for-sale were $1,678,118 and $806,497 for 2013 and 2012, respectively. These gains result in a corresponding decrease to the 

decommissioning regulatory asset.
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 The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Cooperative’s investments with unrealized losses that are not  

deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been  

in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2013.

 Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total 

 Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 

 value losses value losses value losses 

Obligations of U.S. government and agencies $ 717,229   259,287 (31,008) 976,516   (46,988) 

Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  234,439 (6,046) 1,706,606  (78,998) 1,941,045   (85,044) 

Common and preferred stocks and funds  3,022,331 (132,231)  2,462,114 (163,489) 5,484,445   (295,720) 

Managed futures  — — 667,358  (32,642) 667,358 (32,642) 

Foreign investments – common stock  275,372 (22,696)  1,703,398  (103,800) 1,978,770   (126,496)  

   $ 4,249,371 (176,953)  6,798,763 (409,937) 11,048,134   (586,890) 

 In evaluation of the other-than-temporary impairment, the Cooperative considers its intent and ability to hold these investments for a period of 

time sufficient to allow for the anticipated recovery in the market value of these investments, which may be maturity, the severity of the decline, 

and the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been below cost. The Cooperative does not consider these investments to be other- 

than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2013. Individually, none of the investments that have unrealized losses greater than 12 months are 

significant to the financial statements.

 (d) NUCLEAR FUEL 
The cost of nuclear fuel is amortized to steam and other power generation expenses based on the quantity of heat produced for the generation 

of electric energy. Such amortization was $4,360,945 and $3,717,155 for 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(e) OTHER INVESTMENTS 
 Other investments consist of funds held in trust (mainly from patronage income), cash held for the Cooperative’s intermediary relending 

program (see note 9), and common and preferred stock.

(f ) SPECIAL FUNDS 
 Investments held in special funds are either classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 

included as a component of comprehensive income or at their carrying amounts which approximate fair value because of the short maturity  

of the investments.

(g) INVENTORIES 
 Inventories consist of fuel, primarily coal, emission allowances, and materials and supplies. The cost for inventories is determined on a  

weighted-average basis.

 The 1990 Clean Air Act (the Act) established the requirement for fossil fuel electric generating plants to hold sulfur dioxide (SO2) emission 

allowances. In 2009, the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) established a similar requirement for nitrous oxide (NOx) annual and seasonal emission 

allowances. The Act and CAIR allocate a certain number of emission allowances to owners of fossil fuel generating plants and established SO2, 

NOx annual, and NOx seasonal emission allowance trading programs. Emission allowances that have been granted to the Cooperative as a 

result of the Act do not have any cost, and therefore, the use of these emission allowances does not result in expense. From time to time, the 

Cooperative will purchase a quantity of each type of emission allowance to ensure an adequate number of allowances are held. The purchased 

allowances are combined with the allocated allowances to derive an average allowance cost each year for each type of emission allowance. Emission 

allowances purchased are capitalized in inventory and are charged to fuel expense as they are used in operations.

(h) ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Accumulated comprehensive income represents the net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities held for decommissioning of DAEC and 

special funds.

   (i) INTEREST DURING CONSTRUCTION 
Interest during construction represents the cost of funds used for construction and nuclear fuel refinement. The average rate was 1.4% and 1.1% 

for 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is based on the Cooperative’s costs of financing.
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  ( j) INCOME TAxES 
The Cooperative is exempt from federal and state income taxes under section 501(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue Code. Accordingly, no 

provision for income taxes has been included in the Cooperative’s financial statements. The Cooperative recognizes the effect of income 

tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the 

largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in 

which the change in judgment occurs.

  (k) STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Cooperative considers temporary cash investments purchased with a maturity of three 

months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash paid for interest was $9,614,340 and $9,277,534 for 2013 and 2012, respectively.

 (l) OPERATING REVENUES AND COST OF POWER 
  The Cooperative recognizes sales of electric energy and the related cost of electric energy produced or purchased when energy is 

delivered to customers.

  In evaluation of the other than temporary impairment, the Cooperative considers its intent and ability to hold these investments for 

a period of time sufficient to allow for the anticipated recovery in the market value of these investments, which may be maturity, 

the severity of the decline, and the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been below cost. The Cooperative does not 

consider these investments to be other than temporarily impaired at December 31, 2013. Individually, none of the investments that have 

unrealized losses greater than 12 months are significant to the financial statements.

(3) AGREEMENTS WITH BASIN ELECTRIC POWER COOPERATIVE

On September 1, 2009, the Cooperative became a Class A member of Basin Electric Power Cooperative (Basin Electric). As part of this 

agreement, energy and capacity needs of the Cooperative above the Western Area Power Administration allocation and a separate 50 MW 

power purchase agreement with Basin Electric are to be provided by Basin Electric at Class A member rates. Further, the Cooperative sells 

the energy from its generation facilities at cost to Basin Electric but continues to be responsible for and own those facilities. Also, a portion 

of the 161 kV transmission system that is contiguous with Basin Electric is being leased to Basin Electric. During 2013 and 2012, as part of these 

agreements, the Cooperative purchased $85,944,610 and $75,440,865 of power and sold $72,690,302 and $66,307,876 of power to Basin 

Electric, which is recorded in the purchased power, net, in the statements of revenues and expenses.

(4) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

 (a) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
  The following describes the carrying amounts and estimated fair value of financial instruments and the methods and assumptions that 

were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

  Cash and cash equivalents, member accounts receivable, other receivables, certain special funds, short term debt, accounts payable, 

and accrued liabilities – The carrying amounts, at face value or cost plus accrued interest, approximate fair value because of the short 

maturity of these instruments.

  Investment in the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation, other investments, and notes receivable – These accounts are 

recorded at cost. The Cooperative believes that the carrying value of these investments approximates fair value as of December 31, 2013 

and 2012 due to the nature and interest rate of the accounts compared to market rates.

  Decommissioning funds – The investments within the decommissioning funds and certain special funds are recorded at fair value. 

Equity securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market prices at the reporting date multiplied by the 

quantity held. Debt securities classified as available-for-sale are measured using quoted market prices multiplied by the quantity 

held when quoted market prices are available. If quoted market prices are not available, the fair values are estimated using pricing 

models, quoted prices of similar securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash flow. For hedge funds and managed future 

funds where no readily ascertainable market value exists, management, in consultation with their investment advisors, values these 

investments in good faith based upon the investment’s current financial statements or other information provided by the underlying 

investment advisor.

  Long-term debt – The fair value of the Cooperative’s long-term debt is measured based on the borrowing rates currently available 

to the Cooperative for debt with similar terms and maturities. The fair values as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are estimated at 

$224,833,346 and $224,484,632, respectively.
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 (b) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHy 
  ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used 

to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 

measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

  Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Cooperative has the ability  

to access at the measurement date.

  Level 2 – Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

or indirectly.

  Level 3 – Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based on the lowest-level input that  

is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
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The following tables present assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

 Fair value measurements at December 31, 2013 using

  quoted prices 
  in active Significant  
  markets for other Significant 
  identical observable unobservable 
 December 31, assets inputs inputs 
 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:        

 Special funds:      

  Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,890,093 1,890,093 —   —   

  Commercial paper  1,144,836 1,144,836 —   —   

  Certificates of deposit  122,050 — 122,050   —   

  Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies  1,016,648 1,016,648 —   —   

 Decommissioning fund: 

  Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies  1,888,077 1,888,077 —   —   

  Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  3,773,887 3,773,887 —   —   

  Managed future funds  1,021,386 — 1,021,386   —   

  Common and preferred stocks and funds  26,689,319 26,689,319 —   —   

  Hedge funds  120,973 — —   120,973 

  Foreign investments – common stock  6,741,009 6,741,009 —   —   

  Cash and cash equivalents  1,001,098 1,001,098 —   —   

   Total $ 45,409,376 44,144,967 1,143,436   120,973

 Fair value measurements at December 31, 2012 using

  quoted prices 
  in active Significant  
  markets for other Significant 
  identical observable unobservable 
 December 31, assets inputs inputs 
 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:        

 Special funds:      

  Cash and cash equivalents $ 973 973 —   —   

  Commercial paper  1,285,353 1,285,353 —   —   

  Certificates of deposit  376,725 — 376,725   —   

  Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies  5,469,205 5,469,205 — —  

 Decommissioning fund: 

  Obligations of the U.S. government and agencies  1,416,274 1,416,274 —   —   

  Corporate bonds and fixed income funds  2,953,513 2,953,513 —   —   

  Managed future funds  1,037,411 — 1,037,411   —   

  Common and preferred stocks and funds  21,679,754 21,679,754 —   —   

  Hedge funds  196,813 — —   196,813   

  Foreign investments – government funds  551,146 551,146 —   —   

  Foreign investments – common stock  6,550,642 6,550,642 —   —   

  Cash and cash equivalents  811,569 811,569 —   —   

   Total $ 42,329,378 40,718,429 1,414,136   196,813  

             

Corn Belt Power Cooperative • 2013 Annual Report notes to Financial statements Enhancing the quality of Life



48

The following table present the Cooperative’s activity for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable 

inputs (Level 3) for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012: 

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 342,549

 Sales   (152,933)

 Realized gain on sale  (26,704)

 Unrealized gains included in other comprehensive income  33,901 

Balance at December 31, 2012  196,813

 Sales   (48,874)

 Realized gain on sale  (33,901)

 Unrealized gains included in other comprehensive income  6,935

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 120,973

(5) INVESTMENT IN THE NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION (NRUCFC), 
NOTES RECEIVABLE, AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

The Cooperative has investments carried at cost in the following:

  2013 2012

Common and preferred stock $ 421,936 421,824    

Funds held in trust  22,660,258 17,355,806 

Restricted cash  3,265,837 3,117,263 

Investment in NRUCFC  4,671,317 4,652,910 

Economic development loans  4,857,615 4,978,712    

    $ 35,876,963 30,526,515

The above investments are included in the accompanying balance sheets as follows:  

  2013 2012

Investment in NRUCFC $ 4,671,317 4,652,910 

Notes receivable  4,857,615 4,978,712 

Other investments  24,322,612 18,964,653 

Other assets   2,025,419 1,930,240    

    $ 35,876,963  30,526,515  

The Cooperative has an investment of $4,671,317 and $4,652,910 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, with the NRUCFC. This investment 

is required in order to allow the Cooperative to borrow funds from NRUCFC. The investment earns interest of 7.5% on $2,000,000, which 

matures in 2044, 5.0% on $2,195,507, which matures between 2070 and 2080, and 3.0% on $121,789, which matures in 2025. The remaining 

balance of $354,021 does not earn interest.

Notes receivable consist of notes to member cooperatives and other businesses to assist in economic development of qualifying industrial 

sites, speculative buildings, rural housing, and certain joint venture projects. Interest rates on these notes receivable range from 0% to 5%. 

The majority of these notes are generally due under 10-year-agreements with payments due monthly on a ratable basis. The Cooperative 

reviews the need for reserve for uncollected accounts based on payments activity, historical collection rates, and collateral on the note.  

The Cooperative has determined no reserves were necessary at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Funds held in trust consist mainly of deferred patronage dividends related to the Cooperative’s membership in other cooperatives. At December 31, 2013 

and 2012, $22,274,312 and $16,995,654 relates to the Cooperative’s deferred patronage dividends related to Basin Electric.
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(6) DEFERRED PATRONAGE DIVIDENDS AND OTHER EqUITIES

In accordance with the Iowa Code, the Board of Directors is required to allocate a portion of the current year’s net margin to statutory surplus 

until the statutory surplus equals 30% of total membership capital. No additions can be made to statutory surplus whenever it exceeds 50% 

of total membership capital. The Board of Directors appropriated $2,300,000 and $2,262,516 of the 2013 and 2012, respectively, net margins to 

statutory surplus.

The equity-designated reserve for contingent losses in the statements of membership capital is an appropriation of equity by the Board of 

Directors. The Board of Directors appropriated $336,525 and $406,239 of the 2013 and 2012, respectively, net margin to reserve for contingent 

losses. There is no statutory restriction of this equity.

The Board of Directors is permitted by the Iowa Code to allocate the current year’s net margin to deferred patronage dividends upon meeting 

certain requirements and is required to make such allocations if the net margin for the year exceeds specified maximums. The Board of 

Directors has appropriated $6,778,650 and $8,060,000 of the 2013 and 2012 net margins, respectively, to deferred patronage dividends. 

Deferred patronage dividends are to be paid in the future as determined by the Board of Directors.

Under the conditions of the Cooperative’s mortgages, deferred patronage dividends cannot be retired without approval of the RUS and the 

NRUCFC unless the remaining equity meets certain tests. The Cooperative did not meet these tests at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

(7) DEFERRED REGULATORy DEBITS AND CREDITS

Regulatory assets are recorded for expenses that are deferred and will be recovered through rates charged to members in future periods. 

Such deferrals are approved by the Cooperative’s Board of Directors. The Cooperative does not earn a return on these regulatory assets. 

Regulatory credits are established for revenues that have been deferred as approved by the Cooperative’s Board of Directors. These amounts 

will be included in income in the year that they are applied to future costs or otherwise returned to members through a reduction in rates.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, deferred regulatory debits and credits consisted of the following:

  2013 2012

Deferred regulatory assets:      

 NRECA pension prepayment $ 3,783,045 —     

 DAEC regulatory asset  3,033,331 3,183,744    

 Deferred refueling costs  1,329,562 2,925,038 

 Decommissioning regulatory asset  32,065,305 31,378,337 

 Other  — 288,453  

    40,211,243 37,775,572 

Deferred regulatory credits: 

 Deferred credit $ 1,250,553 —    

National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA) pension prepayment – In March 2013, the Cooperative made a prepayment of $4,371,946 to 

the NRECA RS Plan. The Cooperative is amortizing this amount over 10 years. Interest expense associated with the prepayment loan is being 

accounted for in accordance with the RUS Uniform System of Accounts (note 15).

DAEC Regulatory Asset – In 2008, the Cooperative, with the Board of Directors’ approval, established a regulatory asset in conjunction with the deferral 

of depreciation costs related to the DAEC until the extension of the plant license had been approved by the NRC. The plant license was approved in 

December 2010, and accordingly, the Cooperative began amortizing the assets over the remaining life of the license through 2034.

Deferred Refueling Costs – The Cooperative defers extraordinary operation and maintenance expenses incurred during refueling outages of 

DAEC. DAEC nuclear refueling occurs approximately every two years and occurred in October 2012. These deferred costs are being amortized to 

expense based on the expected generation of the next fuel cycle, which corresponds with the period the Cooperative is recovering these costs 

in its rates. Such amortization was $1,595,476 and $1,735,908 for 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Decommissioning Regulatory Asset – In connection with the costs related to decommissioning of DAEC, the Cooperative has established 

a regulatory asset in conjunction with recording of the decommissioning liability. This regulatory asset is the difference between the 

decommissioning liability and the realized value of the investments in the decommissioning fund.

Deferred Credit – In November 2013, the Cooperative’s Board of Directors established a deferred credit of $1,250,000, which will be returned to 

members in the form of reduced revenue requirements. The revenue deferral was set aside in a cash account to cover expenditures in 2014.
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(8) SHORT-TERM DEBT

In 2008, the Cooperative entered into a $150,000,000 syndicated unsecured revolving credit facility with NRUCFC, The Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi 

UFJ, LTD, and Lloyds TSB Bank. The previous two existing credit facilities were rescinded at the same time. On October 1, 2009, the Cooperative 

reduced the unsecured credit facility from $150,000,000 to $75,000,000. On June 1, 2010, the Cooperative further reduced the unsecured credit 

facility to $50,000,000. The credit facility was available through February 2013.

In February 2013, the Cooperative approved a new mortgage note payable to the United States of America acting through the RUS and 

the Federal Financing Bank (FFB) for $55,788,000 for generation projects. The Cooperative also closed on two separate three-year credit 

agreements with both NRUCFC and CoBank, each providing $50,000,000 of available financing.

The Cooperative has drawn down on its credit facilities $37,000,000 and $30,000,000 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Interest 

rates for the 2013 advances range from 1.06% to 1.45%.

(9) LONG-TERM DEBT

A Consolidated Mortgage, Security Agreement, and Financing Statement (Existing RUS Mortgage) provides mortgage note holders with 

a prorated interest in substantially all owned assets. In order to provide additional financing alternatives, during 2013, the Cooperative 

took action to substitute an indenture of mortgage for its Existing RUS Mortgage. Consequently, the Cooperative executed an Indenture of 

Mortgage, Security Agreement, and Financing Statement, dated as of August 30, 2013 (Indenture) between the Cooperative, as Grantor, to U.S. 

Bank National Association, as Trustee. The Indenture was legally recorded and the security interest perfected as of September 20, 2013. The 

Existing RUS Mortgage will be released and canceled upon execution of the release by the mortgagees. The Indenture provides secured note 

holders with a prorated interest in substantially all owned assets.

Long-term debt consists of mortgage notes payable to the United States of America acting through the RUS from the FFB, in conjunction 

with NRUCFC financing, revenue bonds issued due to agreements with Webster City, and notes borrowed through the USDA Intermediary 

Relending Program (IRP Notes) and Rural Economic Development Loans and Grants (REDLG loans) Program. The proceeds of these IRP Notes 

and REDLG loans are then lent to other eligible businesses within certain approved counties in the Cooperative’s service area. Substantially, 

all the assets, rent, income, revenue, and net margin of the Cooperative are pledged as collateral for the long-term debt of the Cooperative, 

except for IRP Notes and REDLG loans, which are not secured by assets of the Cooperative. Long-term debt comprises of:

    

 2013 2012 

Mortgage notes due in quarterly installments:      

 FFB 1.630%–10.657%, due 2014–2039 $ 186,502,499 171,419,716 

 NRUCFC 5.125%–6.125%, due 2014–2020  4,457,129 5,630,284  

 NRUCFC 2.95%, due 2014–2024  4,197,759 — 

    195,157,387 177,050,000    

Revenue bonds 2.25%–6.00%, due 2014–2036  14,846,667 14,915,000 

USDA Intermediary Relending Program – 0%–1%, due 2014–2035  4,270,209 4,341,655 

   $ 214,274,263 196,306,655   

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows:

Year: 

 2014 $ 13,318,819 

 2015  12,812,425 

 2016  12,452,274 

 2017  12,183,730 

 2018  10,768,841 

 Thereafter  152,738,174 

  $ 214,274,263
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Restrictive covenants require the Cooperative to set rates that will enable it to maintain a margins for interest ratio (MFI) of 1.10. The 

Cooperative is also required to maintain a debt service coverage (DSC) of 1.00, a minimum membership capital balance of $70,000,000 

excluding accumulated other comprehensive income and achieve either an average equity ratio of not less than 10% or have been assigned 

a credit rating of BBB-. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Cooperative was in compliance with its covenants on debt with respect to these 

financial ratios.

During 2013, the Cooperative borrowed $25,977,000 from the FFB to finance transmission and generation construction with rates ranging from 

1.900% to 3.094%.

Since 1979, the Cooperative has had a long-term agreement with Webster City under which Webster City agreed to provide certain generation 

and transmission facilities to the Cooperative and the Cooperative has agreed to guarantee repayment of financing issued by Webster City to 

pay for these facilities and the continued improvement of these facilities. The Cooperative has recorded these assets in electric plant and has 

reflected the debt associated with this guarantee as long-term debt. Further, as part of the agreement, the Cooperative provided Webster 

City its wholesale power needs at rates consistent with rates charged to other Cooperative members. In September 2011, the Cooperative and 

Webster City entered into a new agreement to continue their relationship until December 2050.

In April 2012, Webster City commenced $14.9 million of financing in the form of revenue bonds associated with the Webster City agreement. 

The funds received in the financing were placed in a special fund to be used solely for the purposes of financing Webster City’s proportionate 

share of the capital expenditures of the contributed facilities. The Cooperative withdrew $4,757,284 and $7,609,284 from the fund in 2013 and 

2012, respectively, which were used for capital expenditures related to contributed facilities.

USDA Rural Development requires all IRP and REDLG loans to be fully insured. The Cooperative maintains IRP and REDLG accounts with 

Bank Iowa. In January 2011, the Cooperative and Bank Iowa entered into a master repurchase agreement to guarantee the IRP and REDLG 

accounts in case of default. The accounts are guaranteed by securities pledged from Federal Farm Credit Bank and Federal National Mortgage 

Association in the amount of $1,000,000 each but not to exceed $1,500,000. This agreement will mature in five years or less.

(10)  SPECIAL FUNDS

Special funds consists of funds the RUS requires to be set aside in a special fund due to deferral of revenue (see note 7), money in a special 

fund to cover future removal of the Wisdom Unit 1 ash landfill, deferred credit fund, and funds, which the Cooperative has rights to due to 

issuance of revenue bonds (see note 9) and RUS Cushion of Credit.

      

   2013 2012

Ash landfill fund $ 145,442 123,010 

Deferred credit fund  1,250,000 — 

Revenue bonds fund  2,210,198 7,009,246 

RUS cushion of credit  567,987 — 

   $ 4,173,627 7,132,256  

(11)  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In 2002, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase 11.49% of the monthly generation from the Hancock County 

Wind Energy Center up to 11.22 megawatts. This agreement is effective through December 31, 2022 and rates are firm for the life of the contract.

In 2007, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from Crosswind Energy, LLC up to 21 

megawatts. This agreement is effective through June 15, 2022 and rates are firm for the life of the contract.

A long-term purchased power agreement with Basin Electric began on January 1, 2008 for 50 MW and expires December 31, 2050.

In 2008, the Cooperative entered into a power purchase agreement to purchase the monthly generation from Iowa Lakes Electric Cooperative’s 

two wind farms both of which started generating in 2009. The agreement was amended in 2011 and the price is fixed for each of the years 

from 2014–2028. The Cooperative is only obligated to pay for power that is actually received and the projects are not dispatchable.
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(12)  JOINT PLANT OWNERSHIP

Under joint ownership agreements with other utilities, the Cooperative had undivided interests at December 31, 2013 in electric plant, including 

construction work in progress, as shown below:

      

 Total  Unit 
 electric Accumulated accredited Cooperative’s 
 plant depreciation capacity (MW) share (%)

Wisdom Unit 2 $ 16,164,673 4,621,978 80   43.8% 

Neal #4  80,177,419 43,154,231 644   11.3  

Walter Scott #3  27,741,887 14,020,567 690   3.8  

DAEC  109,791,504 76,552,039 614   10.0

Walter Scott #4  70,711,728 12,305,786 804   5.6

Walter Scott #4 – transmission  5,347,585 937,543 —   5.3  

Lehigh Webster – transmission  4,922,887 1,053,608 —   27.0

Neal #3 Grimes-Lehigh – transmission  654,234 139,834 —   3.8  

Each participant provided its own financing for its share of the unit. The Cooperative’s share of direct expenses of the jointly owned units is 

included in the operating and maintenance expenses on the statements of revenues and expenses.

During 1991, the Cooperative; one of its members, North Iowa Municipal Electric Cooperative Association (NIMECA); and the city of Grundy Center, 

a NIMECA member, entered into a long-term lease agreement for the use by Grundy Center of 2 megawatts of the Cooperative’s capacity in the 

Neal #4 generation facilities. The Cooperative will continue to act as the Neal #4 partner on behalf of Grundy Center. The above plant statistics 

have been reduced to reflect the agreement. The Board of Directors has approved an agreement that would transfer ownership to Grundy Center 

and expects this transaction to be complete in March 2014.

During 2006, the Cooperative; one of its members, NIMECA; and the city of Spencer, a NIMECA member, entered into a long-term generation use 

agreement of approximately 5 megawatts of the Cooperative’s capacity in the Wisdom Unit 2 generation facilities. The above plant statistics 

have been reduced to reflect the agreement.

(13) ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Cooperative has asset retirement obligations (AROs) arising from regulatory requirements to perform certain asset retirement activities at 

the time of decommissioning DAEC and disposing of certain electric plant. The liability was initially measured at fair value and subsequently is 

adjusted for accretion expense and changes in the amount or timing of the estimated cash flows. The corresponding asset retirement costs are 

capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life.

The Cooperative recognizes and estimates an ARO for its 10% share of the estimated cost to decommission DAEC. During 2008, an NRC estimate  

of the decommissioning costs was updated. Management expects that a new study will be completed in 2014. The ARO could significantly  

change as a result of this estimate. This report estimated the Cooperative’s share of the costs to be approximately $76,159,700 (in 2008 dollars).  

The following table presents the activity for the AROs for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

      

 2013 2012

Balance at January 1 $ 62,183,000 59,222,000 

Accretion expense  3,109,000 2,961,000 

Balance at December 31 $ 65,292,000 62,183,000  
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The Cooperative also recognizes a liability for its share of the estimated cost to remove the ash landfills at Walter Scott #3 and Neal #4.  

A reconciliation of the changes in the ARO is depicted below:

    

 2013 2012

Balance at January 1 $ 830,620 952,868

Changes in estimates, including timing  88,951 (139,022)

Accretion expense  — — 

Obligations incurred  19,942 16,774

Balance at December 31 $ 939,513 830,620  

(14) NUCLEAR INSURANCE PROGRAM

Liability for accidents at nuclear power plants is governed by the Price-Anderson Act, which limits the liability of nuclear reactor owners to 

the amount of insurance available from both private sources and an industry retrospective payment plan. In accordance with this Act, DAEC 

maintains $375 million of private liability insurance, which is the maximum obtainable, and participates in a secondary financial protection 

system, which provides up to $13.2 billion of liability insurance coverage per incident at any nuclear reactor in the United States. The 

Cooperative’s assessment on its 10% ownership in DAEC is approximately $12.7 million per nuclear incident.

Pursuant to provisions in various nuclear insurance policies, the Cooperative could be assessed retroactive premiums in connection with future 

accidents at a nuclear facility owned by a utility participating in the particular insurance plan. In addition, the Cooperative could be assessed 

annually approximately $3.5 million related to coverage for excess property damage if the insurer’s losses relating to an accident exceed its 

reserves. While assessment also may be made for losses in certain prior years, the Cooperative is not aware of any losses in such years that it 

believes are likely to result in an assessment.

In the unlikely event of a catastrophic loss at DAEC, the amount of insurance available may not be adequate to cover property damage, 

decontamination, and premature decommissioning. Uninsured losses, to the extent not recovered through rates, would be borne by the 

Cooperative and could have a material adverse effect on the Cooperative’s financial position and results of operations.

(15)  BENEFIT PLANS

The Retirement Security Plan (RS Plan), sponsored by National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA), is a defined-benefit pension 

plan qualified under Section 401 and tax-exempt under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. It is considered a multiemployer plan 

under the accounting standards.

A unique characteristic of a multiemployer plan compared to a single employer plan is that all plan assets are available to pay benefits of any 

plan participant. Separate asset accounts are not maintained for participating employers. This means that assets contributed by one employer 

may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers.

The Cooperative’s contributions to the RS Plan in 2013 and 2012 represented less than 5 percent of the total contributions made to the plan by 

all participating employers. The Cooperative made contributions to the plan of $5,696,036 in 2013 (including prepayment discussed below) 

and $1,608,006 in 2012.

For the RS Plan, a “zone status” determination is not required, and therefore not determined, under the Pension Protection Act (PPA) of 2006. 

In addition, the accumulated benefit obligations and plan assets are not determined or allocated separately by individual employer. In total, 

the Retirement Security Plan was over 80% funded at January 1, 2013 and between 65% and 80% funded on January 1, 2012 based on the PPA 

funding target and PPA actuarial value of assets on those dates.

Because the provisions of the PPA do not apply to the RS Plan, funding improvement plans and surcharges are not applicable. Future contribution 

requirements are determined each year as part of the actuarial valuation of the plan and may change as a result of plan experience.

In March 2013, the Cooperative elected to a make a contribution prepayment and reduce future required contributions. The prepayment 

amount of $4,371,946 was the Cooperative’s share, as of January 1, 2013, of future contributions required to fund the RS Plan’s unfunded value 

of benefits earned to date using RS Plan actuarial valuation assumptions. The Cooperative is amortizing this amount over 10 years. After 

making the prepayment, the Cooperative’s billing rate was reduced by approximately 25%, retroactive to January 1, 2013. The 25% differential 

in billing rates is expected to continue for approximately 15 years. However changes in interest rates, asset returns and other plan experience 

different from expected, plan assumption changes and other factors may have an impact on the differential in billing rates and the 15 year period.
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The Cooperative also provides a 401(k) plan, available to all employees, with the Cooperative matching 40% of the employees’ contributions 

up to 5% of the employees’ wages. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Cooperative contributed $126,378 and $124,985, respectively, to the 

401(k) plan.

(16) NIMECA COMBINED TRANSMISSION SySTEM

In 1989, the Cooperative and one of its members, NIMECA, entered into a joint transmission agreement that allows several members of NIMECA 

an individual undivided ownership interest in and access to the Cooperative’s transmission system. The Cooperative will continue to operate 

and maintain the system. NIMECA members will reimburse the Cooperative for the proportionate share of operating expenses of the system 

and will contribute proportionately for all future capital additions of the system. The reimbursement of the 2013 and 2012 operating expenses 

was $795,908 and $771,769, respectively, and was recorded as other operating revenues.

(17) ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The Clean Air Act (the Act), as amended, made significant reductions in the amounts of SO2 and NOx emissions allowed on an annual basis 

nationwide. Management believes the Cooperative’s coal-fired generating stations are in compliance with the standards established by  

Phase I and Phase II of the Act.

On December 23, 2008, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit reversed its vacatur of the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency’s (EPA) CAIR. The Court had vacated CAIR in July 2008, citing significant flaws in the EPA’s regulations. CAIR regulates interstate 

emission of oxides NOx and SO2 contributing to nonattainment areas for fine particulate and ozone. CAIR permanently caps emissions of  

SO2 and NOx in the eastern states.

In July 2011, the EPA finalized the Cross State Air Pollution Rule (CSAPR), which further addresses the interstate transport of air pollution.  

This rule was to replace CAIR starting January 1, 2011 with higher reductions of SO2 and NOx in the eastern states. On December 30, 2011, the 

District of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals put on hold the EPA CSAPR and in August 2012 the rule was vacated. The ruling also ordered EPA  

to continue enforcing CAIR.

On December 16, 2011, EPA issued the final Utility Mercury and Air Toxics Rule (Utility MATS Rule). The Utility MATS Rule regulates mercury and 

other hazardous air pollutants based upon maximum achievable control technology for new and existing coal-fired electric generating units 

nationwide.

In June 2010, EPA proposed a Coal Ash Rule to further regulate coal ash landfills and ash ponds. The proposed rule has two coal ash-designated 

alternatives. A hazardous regulation has the potential to significantly reduce coal ash in beneficial use applications. The proposed regulations 

have not yet been finalized.

In February 2013, EPA started the process of engagement with states, stakeholders, and the public to establish carbon emission standards for 

existing power plants.

The Cooperative believes that the combination of the costs for the required capital investments, increased operational expenses, and purchase 

of emission allowances resulting from these new regulations will be significant.

(18) SUBSEqUENT EVENTS

The Cooperative has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through February 28, 2014, the date at which the financial 

statements were available to be issued and noted no additional items to disclose.
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Corn Belt Power Cooperative is a generation and transmission electric cooperative owned by its 

member systems. Corn Belt Power provides electricity to nine member cooperatives and one 

municipal electric cooperative that serve farms, rural residences, small towns and commercial 

and industrial members in 41 counties in northern Iowa. 


